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DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

2022 Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting Minutes 

Meeting type: Physical shareholders meeting 

Time: 9:00 a.m., Thursday, June 16, 2022 

Place: FULLON HOTEL (No.200, Sec.1, Daxing W.Rd.,Taoyuan Dist.,Taoyuan City)  

Attendees: Total shares represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy: 191,917,227 shares 

(including electronic voting); percentage of total outstanding 280,000,001 shares present in person 

or by proxy: 68.54%.Until the meeting adjourned, total shares represented by shareholders present 

in person or by proxy: 191,926,227 shares; percentage of total outstanding 280,000,001 shares 

present in person or by proxy: 68.54%. 

Attendees: Chairman Kai-Chien Su, Director Yao-Kun Tsai, Independent Director and Chair of the Audit 

Committee Neng-Pai Lin , Independent Director and member of the Audit Committee Kun-Ming 

Lee , shareholders Represented of Qisda Chiu-Chin Hung, and Certified Public Accountant, 

Huei-Chen Chang  

Chair: Kai-Chien Su, Chairman                                   Recorder: Hsien-Chang Lin 

1. Commencement: The aggregate shareholding of the shareholders present in person or by proxy constituted 

a quorum. The Chair called the meeting to order. 

2. Chair’s Address (omitted) 

3. Report Items 

(1)To report the business of 2021 Explanation:  

The 2021 Business Report is attached hereto as Attachment 1 (page 5).  

(2)Audit Committee's Review Report 

Explanation: 

Audit Committee's Review Report 

The Board of Directors has prepared the Company's Financial Statements for the year of 2021. Chang, Huei-Chen 

and Shih, Wei-Ming Certified Public Accountants of KPMG, have audited the Financial Statements. The 2021 

Financial Statements, Business Report, Independent Auditors Report, and Earnings Distribution Proposal have 

been reviewed and determined to be correct and accurate by the Audit Committee of DARFON ELECTRONICS 

CORP. I, as the Chair of the Audit Committee, hereby submit this report according to Article 14-4 of the Securities 

and Exchange Act and Article 219 of the Company Act. 

 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Chair of the Audit Committee 

 

 

 

Neng-Pai Lin  

March 8, 2022
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(3)To report the distribution of 2021 employees' and directors' remuneration  

Explanation: 

The distribution of 2021 directors' and employees' remuneration is stipulated in Articles of Incorporation, 

it is proposed to allocate NT$ 10,716,685 for directors' remuneration and NT$ 142,889,138 for 

employees' remuneration. The payment will be made in cash. 

(4)To report the proposal for the 2021 earnings distribution of cash dividends  

Explanation: 

A. In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation, the distribution of earnings is distributed in 

the form of cash, the distribution may be approved by the Board of Directors and reported to 

the shareholders' meeting. 

B. The proposed distribution is allocated from the 2021 earnings available for distribution. 

Each common share holder will be entitled to receive a cash dividend of NT$3 per share. 

C. The cash dividend distribution to each shareholder will be paid to the rounded-down full NT 

dollar, and the Board of Directors is authorized to determine the ex-dividend date for the 

cash dividend distribution and other related matters. 

D. If the dividend distribution ratio is adjusted and need to be modified due to change of the 

Company's total number of outstanding common shares, the Chairman of Board of Directors 

has full authority to adjust the distribution ratio. 

4. Ratification and Discussion Items： 

(1)To accept 2021 business report and financial statements (Proposed by the Board of Directors)  

Explanation: 

A. The 2021 Financial Statements were audited by the independent auditors, Huei-Chen Chang 

and Wei-Ming Shih of KPMG. 

B. For the 2021 Independent Auditors' Report, and the 2021 Financial Statements, please refer 

to Attachments 2-3 (pages 6-24). 

Resolution: 

Total shares represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy 

(including electronic voting): 191,926,227 

Approval votes:        179,963,287; percentage of votes: 93.76%  

Disapproval votes:         254,176; percentage of votes: 0.13%  

Invalid votes:                   0; percentage of votes: 0.00% 

Abstention votes/no votes: 11,708,764; percentage of votes: 6.10%  

Proposal was approved after voting. 

(2)To accept the proposal for the distribution of 2021earnings (Proposed by the Board of Directors)  

Explanation: 

The 2021 Earnings Distribution Table was approved by the Board of Directors and reviewed by 

the Audit Committee. The 2021 Earnings Distribution Table is attached hereto as Attachment 4 

(page 25). 

Resolution: 

Total votes represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy 

(including electronic voting): 191,926,227 

Approval votes:        180,418,282; percentage of votes: 94.00%  

Disapproval votes:          13,183; percentage of votes: 0.00%  

Invalid votes:                   0; percentage of votes: 0.00% 

Abstention votes/no votes: 11,494,762; percentage of votes: 5.98%  

Proposal was approved after voting.



 

3 

(3)Discussion of the amendment to "Articles of Incorporation"(Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanation: 

To comply with President Order Hua-Tsung (1)-Jing-Tzu No.11000115851 on December 29, 

2021and meet actual needs, it is proposed to amend “Articles of Incorporation”. The 

comparison table for the Articles of Incorporation before and after amendment is attached 

hereto as Attachment 5(page 26).   

Resolution: 

Total votes represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy  

(including electronic voting): 191,926,227 

Approval votes:        179,357,734; percentage of votes: 93.45%  

Disapproval votes:          11,218; percentage of votes: 0.00%  

Invalid votes:                   0; percentage of votes: 0.00% 

Abstention votes/no votes: 12,557,275; percentage of votes: 6.54%  

Proposal was approved after voting. 

(4)Discussion of the amendment to “Handling Procedures for Acquisition or Disposition of Assets” and 

“Handling Procedures for Engaging in Derivatives Trading” (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanation: 

To comply with the Financial Supervisory Commission's Letter Jin-Guan-Zheng-Fa-Zi No. 

1110380465 on January 28, 2022 and meet actual needs, it is proposed to amend "Procedures 

for Acquisition or Disposition of Assets" and "Procedures for Engaging in Derivatives Trading". 

The comparison tables for the “Handling Procedures for Acquisition or Disposition of Assets” 

and “Handling Procedures for Engaging in Derivatives Trading” before and after amendment 

are attached hereto as Attachment 6,7(page 27-35).   

Resolution: 

Total votes represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy  

(including electronic voting): 191,926,227 

Approval votes:        168,194,710; percentage of votes: 87.63%  

Disapproval votes:       11,173,319; percentage of votes: 5.82%  

Invalid votes:                   0; percentage of votes: 0.00% 

Abstention votes/no votes: 12,558,198; percentage of votes: 6.54%  

Proposal was approved after voting. 

(5)Discussion of the amendment to “Handling Procedures for Lending Funds to Other Parties” and 

“Procedures for Endorsement and Guarantee” (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanation: 

To meet actual needs, it is proposed to amend "Procedures for Lending Funds to Other Parties" 

and "Procedures for Endorsement and Guarantee". The comparison tables for “Handling 

Procedures for Lending Funds to Other Parties" and "Procedures for Endorsement and 

Guarantee" before and after amendment are attached hereto as Attachment 8,9(page 36-41).   

Resolution: 

Total votes represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy  

(including electronic voting): 191,926,227 

Approval votes:        168,187,718; percentage of votes: 87.63%  

Disapproval votes:       11,175,338; percentage of votes: 5.82%  

Invalid votes:                   0; percentage of shares: 0.00% 

Abstention votes/no votes: 12,563,171; percentage of votes: 6.54%  

Proposal was approved after voting.
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5. Extraordinary Motions: None 

6. Meeting Adjourned: The announcement that the meeting was adjourned at 9:23 a.m. was agreed 

unanimously by shareholders present in person. 
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Attachment 1 

2021 Business Report  

 
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to pose a threat and the US-China trade war still rages in 2021; these all 

caused structural impacts on global politics, economies and societies. However, the transformation of industries 

and lifestyles under the pandemic brought strong demand for notebook computers, bicycles and pedelec bicycles 

(eBike), which increased both the company’s revenue and profits. The company's consolidated revenue for 2021 

was NTD $28 billion, which increased by 26% compared to the same period the previous year. There was also 

significant growth in net profit after tax; the net profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the parent 

company for the year was NTD $1.15 billion, and the earnings per share after tax was $4.09. 

 

In terms of operation and sales, the demand for global notebook computers in the education, gaming and 

commercial fields increased even faced with unfavorable factors, including lack of components and increased 

shipping costs; the overall shipment of notebook computers still reached a historical high. Darfon’s IT 

peripherals business is committed to grasping the urgent demand from commercial enterprise orders and 

consumer Chromebooks and increasing production efficiency; it focused on value customers and continually 

optimized the product portfolio to increase the profits and maintain the leading position in market shares. Darfon 

actively invested resources to enhance technological innovation, shorten product development schedules, and 

strengthen the core competitiveness of notebook and high-end desktop keyboard technologies while launching 

various high-quality gaming peripheral application products, becoming a top global manufacturer of input 

devices. The performance of Darfon’s green energy business centers on the development of pedelec bicycles 

(eBike) grew rapidly under the development of strategic alliances. Its proportion of revenue contribution has 

exceeded 30%. With the joining of Astro Tech last year, the green energy business was able to fully grasp the 

four major core technologies for pedelec bicycles (eBike): electronics, batteries, frames and assembly. The 

integrated component business focused on deepening the improvement of technologies, developing niche 

products, and expanding diverse channels. The subsidiary company, Unictron Technologies Corp., which focuses 

on piezoelectric and antenna components, was successfully listed in the 4th quarter of 2021, successfully 

reaching an important milestone in the strategic layout of the component business.  

 

In terms of management, faced with the restructuring of global supply chains and the changing of new business 

operation models, Darfon’s global layout strategy now focuses on consolidating China, expanding Vietnam, 

strengthening Taiwan, deploying diverse manufacturing in Europe and developing local services. The emphasis 

is on regional complementarity, and supply chain management, exerting economies of scale by integrating 

platforms across businesses. In terms of human resources, in response to the new generation of talent 

management models, recruit efficiencies were strengthened to satisfy the group's talent needs, cultivate industry 

leaders for the group, and create valuable teams together. In addition, Darfon continues to develop through 

innovation and technology to maintain competitive advantages; an average of 4% of the turnover was invested 

each year in product innovation and technological R&D, and now Darfon has accumulated almost a thousand 

patents in different countries around the world.  

 

Darfon adheres to the core concept of sustainable operation and environmental protection, social responsibility 

and corporate governance; it communicates and cooperates with stakeholders to create shared values. In 2021, 

Darfon won the 17th CSR Corporate Social Responsibility Award from Global Views Monthly, the Asia HR “HR 

Asia Best Companies to Work for in Asia” award, and the “WeCare Most Caring Companies Award”, fully 

affirming the company’s achievements in caring for employees and fulfilling corporate social responsibilities. 

The company will continue to implement energy-saving and carbon reduction green processes, care and bear the 

social responsibilities, and keep the corporate governance in pace with the times.  

 

Even though there is no clear ending to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2022, the digital transformation and changes 

in lifestyles are now confirmed trends. Even though the overall economy's uncertainty still exists, Darfon will 

continue to strengthen its fundamentals and further expand the differentiation of its technologies and products. 

Integrate through consolidation to make the company bigger and better, and use strategic alliances and 

complementary advantages to show the synergy of the group’s active deployment of IT and green energy 

industry in recent years, adding energy to the sustainable operation of the company.  

 

Thank you to the shareholders for your long-term support and encouragement to the company; The management 

team and all employees will continue to put in all our efforts to maximize benefits for the shareholders and the 

company.
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Attachment 2 

Independent Auditors' Report 

To the Board of Directors Darfon Electronics Corp.: 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Darfon Electronics Corp. and its subsidiaries (the “ Group” ), which comprise 

the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 

equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 

the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), International Accounting Standards (“IASs”), and interpretations developed  

by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“ IFRSs” ) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”) 

endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China. 

Basis for Opinion 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Certification of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants 

and the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with the Certified Public Accountants Code of Professional Ethics in Republic of China (“the Code”), and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significant in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key audit matters for the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 are stated as follows:  

1. Valuation of inventories  

Please refer to note 4(h) for the accounting policies on measuring inventory, note 5(a) for uncertainty of accounting estimations and 

assumptions for inventory valuation, and note 6(f) for the disclosure of the amounts of inventory write-downs, of the consolidated 

financial statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Darfon Electronics Corp. and its subsidiaries, an electronic 

industry, possess rapid innovation in the highly competitive market, therefore causing the product life cycle shorter and variation of 

the price faster. Due to the rapid innovation of technology, the Group’s stocks for products may become obsolete and product price 

may decline rapidly. These factors result in a risk wherein the carrying amount of inventory may exceed its net realizable value. 

Particularly, the estimation of net realizable value requires the management’s subjective judgments. Therefore, the valuation of 

inventories has been identified as one of the key audit matters. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included obtaining the inventory aging report provided by the 

Group, and analyzing the fluctuation of inventory aging; selecting samples to verify the accuracy of inventory aging classification; 

evaluating whether valuation of inventories was accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies; and assessing the 

historical reasonableness of management’s estimates of inventory provisions. 

2. Business combination 

Please refer to note 4(t) for the accounting policy on business combination, and note 6(h) for related disclosures of acquisition of 

subsidiaries, of the consolidated financial statements.
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Description of key audit matter: 

In 2021, the Group acquired 51.00% ownership of Astro Tech Co., Ltd., wherein the Group controls it. To adopt accounting treatment 

of business combination, the management needs to assess and determine the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities. As the 

assessment is complex and involves significant assumptions and estimation, it has been identified as one of the key audit matters. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included obtaining the purchase price allocation report with 

the valuation on intangible assets conducted by an external expert engaged by the management; and evaluating the acquired assets and 

liabilities identified by the management including any fair value adjustment at the acquisition date. In doing so, we have consulted 

internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation model and key assumptions used. We have 

also assessed whether correct accounting treatment has been applied, and appropriate disclosures with respect to the acquisition has 

been made. 

3. Impairment of goodwill 

Please refer to note 4(n) for the accounting policies on impairment of non-financial assets, note 5(b) for the uncertainty of accounting 

estimations and assumptions for goodwill impairment, and 6(m) for related disclosures of impairment test of goodwill, of the 

consolidated financial statements.   

Description of key audit matter: 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries is subject to an impairment test annually or when there are indications that 

goodwill may have been impaired. The assessment of the recoverable amount of goodwill from cash generating units involves 

management’s judgment and estimation. Accordingly, the assessment of impairment of goodwill has been identified as one of the key 

audit matters. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included obtaining the assessment of impairment of goodwill 

provided by the management; assessing the appropriateness of the valuation model and key assumptions, including the discount rate, 

expected growth rate and future cash flow projections, used by the management in measuring the recoverable amount; performing a 

sensitivity analysis of key assumptions ; and assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures with respect to the related information 

on goodwill impairment. 

Other Matter 

Darfon Electronics Corp. has additionally prepared its parent-company-only financial statements as of and for the years ended December 

31, 2021 and 2020, on which we have issued an unmodified audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements inaccordance with the 

Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and the IFRSs, IASs, IFRC, and SIC endorsed and 

issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance (including members of the Audit Committee) are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial 

reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 

level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 

Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements
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As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, we exercise professional judgment 

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 

by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 

to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 

to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 

the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’ s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report are Huei-Chen Chang and Wei-Ming Shih. 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China) 

March 8, 2022 

 

 

Notice to Readers 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the statement of financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows in accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and 

not those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such financial statements are those generally 

accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

The independent auditors' audit report and the accompanying consolidated financial statements are the English translation of the Chinese 

version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of the English 

and Chinese language independent auditors' report and consolidated financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail. 



 

(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
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  December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

  Assets Amount % Amount % 

  Current assets:     

1100   Cash and cash equivalents  $ 3,045,203   9   2,602,683   11  

1110   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss-current   457,461   1   454,332   2  

1120   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

 income-current   271,389   1   89,443   -  

1136   Financial assets at amortized cost-current   3,100   -   1,100   -  

1170   Notes and accounts receivable, net   7,724,859   23   6,731,425   28  

1180   Accounts receivable from related parties   137,271   -   123,441   -  

1200   Other receivables   44,210   -   21,067   -  

130X   Inventories   8,538,835   26   4,336,702   18  

1470   Prepayments and other current assets  856,236   3   622,890   3  

   Total current assets  21,078,564   63   14,983,083   62  

  Non-current assets:             

1517   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

 income-non-current   1,213,707   4   1,058,383   4  

1535   Financial assets at amortized cost-non-current   810   -   810   -  

1550   Investments accounted for using equity method  75,223   -   29,069   -  

1600   Property, plant and equipment  7,843,550   24   6,045,946   25  

1755   Right-of-use assets  972,784   3   670,213   3  

1760   Investment property, net   62,125   -   86,826    -  

1780   Intangible assets  1,018,046   3   774,027   3  

1840   Deferred income tax assets   160,251   1   196,023   1  

1915   Prepayments for equipment   403,631   1   191,694   1  

1920   Refundable deposits  39,961   -   32,260   -  

1975   Net defined benefit asset-non-current   17,076   -   16,777   -  

1990   Other non-current assets   309,546   1   184,395   1  

   Total non-current assets  12,116,710   37   9,286,423   38  

  Total assets $ 33,195,274   100   24,269,506   100  

      

 

 

 

(Continued) 



 

(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)  

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
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  December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

  Liabilities and Equity Amount % Amount % 

  Current liabilities:     

2100   Short-term borrowings  $ 5,039,971   15   2,470,428   10  

2110 Short-term notes and bills payable  -   -   439,721   2  

2120   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   23   -   28   -  

2170   Notes and accounts payable   6,684,209   20   5,321,074   22  

2200   Other payables  3,486,501   11   2,815,639   12  

2250   Provision-current   110,716   1   96,222  - 

2280 Lease liabilities-current  100,386   -   94,838  - 

2322 Long-term debt, current portion  16,899   -  - - 

2399   Other current liabilities   715,203   2   434,965   2  

   Total current liabilities  16,153,908   49   11,672,915   48  

  Non-current liabilities:             

2540   Long-term debt   3,623,951   11   1,600,000   7  

2570   Deferred income tax liabilities   177,942   -   72,675   - 

2580 Lease liabilities-non-current  203,716   1   258,871   1  

2640   Net defined benefit liability-non-current   65,377   -   66,229   - 

2670   Other non-current liabilities  249,043   1   19,754   -  

   Total non-current liabilities  4,320,029   13   2,017,529   8  

    Total liabilities  20,473,937   62   13,690,444   56  

  Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent:     

3110   Common stock  2,800,000   8   2,800,000   12  

3200   Capital surplus  4,132,767   12   3,921,454   16  

      Retained earnings:     

3310      Legal reserve  1,116,990   3   1,024,037   4  

3320    Special reserve  386,607   1   492,270   2  

3350      Unappropriated earnings  1,828,344   6   1,339,912   6  

   3,331,941   10   2,856,219   12  

   Other components of equity:     

3410    Foreign currency translation differences  (765,143)   (2)   (683,751)   (3)  

3420    Unrealized gain (loss) from financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income   379,613   1   328,577   1  

3445      Remeasurement of defined benefit   (36,993)   -   (31,433)   -  

   (422,523)   (1)   (386,607)   (2)   

  Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company  9,842,185   29   9,191,066   38   

36XX  Non-controlling interests    2,879,152   9   1,387,996   6  

    Total equity  12,721,337   38   10,579,062   44  

  Total liabilities and equity $ 33,195,274   100   24,269,506   100  

 

 

 

 

 
.
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(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Share) 

  2021 2020 

  Amount      %  Amount %  

4000  Net sales  $ 28,048,736   100   22,349,528   100  

5000  Cost of sales   (23,377,424)   (83)   (18,491,952)   (83)  

  Gross profit   4,671,312   17   3,857,576   17  

  Operating expenses :  (6,341)   -   -   -  

   4,664,971   17   3,857,576   17  

      6100  Selling expenses  (1,327,350)   (5)   (1,205,279)   (5)  

6200  Administrative expenses  (902,024)   (3)   (711,176)   (3)  

6300  Research and development expenses  (946,171)   (4)   (806,796)   (4)  

6000    Total operating expenses  (3,175,545)   (12)   (2,723,251)   (12)  

  Operating income   1,489,426   5   1,134,325   5  

  Non-operating income and loss :     

7010  Other income   9,382   -   133,248   -  

7020  Other gains and losses   217,258   1   (23,222)   -  

7050  Finance costs   9,280   -   (66,810)   -  

7060  Share of the loss of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method   (75,816)   -   3,268   -  

7100  Interest income   4,208   -   43,882   -  

    Total non-operating income and loss  164,312   1   90,366   -  

7900  Income before income tax  1,653,738   6   1,224,691   5  

7950  Income tax expenses  (352,116)   (1)   (271,344)   (1)  

8200  Net income  1,301,622   5   953,347   4  

  Other comprehensive income:      

8310  Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

8311  Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  (6,751)   -   (403)   -  

8316  Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income  71,412   -   316,001   2  

8320  Share of other comprehensive income (loss) of associates  17,758   -   -   -  

8349  Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss  1,443   -   96   -  

   83,862   -   315,694   2  

8360  Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

8361  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (79,866)   -   (191,624)   (1)  

8370  Share of the other comprehensive income of joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method  (4,170)   -   33   -  

8399  Income tax related to items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss  -   -   -   -  

   (84,036)   -   (191,591)   (1)  

  Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax  (174)   -   124,103   1  

8500  Total comprehensive income for the year $ 1,301,448   5   1,077,450   5  

 Net income attributable to:     

8610  Shareholders of the Parent $ 1,146,533   4   903,785   4  

8620  Non-controlling interests  155,089   1   49,562   -  

   $ 1,301,622   5   953,347   4  

 Total comprehensive income attributable to:     

8710  Shareholders of the Parent $ 1,139,806   4   1,035,195   5  

8720  Non-controlling interests  161,642  1   42,255   -  

   $ 1,301,448   5   1,077,450   5  

 Earnings per share (in New Taiwan dollars) :   

9750  Basic earnings per share $        4.09            3.23   

9850  Diluted earnings per share $        4.05            3.19   
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(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent   

 

      Other components of equity   

   Retained earnings   Unrealized gains      

 

Common 
stock 

Capital 
Surplus Legal reserve 

Special 
reserve 

Unappropriated 

earnings  Subtotal 

Foreign  
currency 

translation 
differences 

(losses) from 
financial assets 

at fair value  
through other 
comprehensive 

income 

Remeasurements 
of defined benefit 

plans Subtotal 

Equity 
attributable to 
shareholders 
of the Parent 

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total equity 

Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 2,800,000   3,802,120   934,042   366,541   1,270,104  2,570,687   (499,270)  38,323   (31,323)     (492,270)   8,680,537   1,087,054   9,767,591  

Net income in 2020  -   -  - -  903,785   903,785   -   -   -   -   903,785   49,562   953,347  

Other comprehensive income in 2020,  -   -   -   -   -   -   (184,481)   316,001   (110)   131,410   131,410   (7,307)   124,103  

Total comprehensive income in 2020  -   -   -   -   903,785   903,785   (184,481)   316,001   (110)   131,410   1,035,195   42,255   1,077,450  

Appropriation of earnings:               

 Legal reserve  -   -   89,995  -  (89,995)  - -  -   -   -   -   -  - 

 Special reserve  -   -   -   125,729   (125,729)  - -  -   -   -   -   -  - 

 Cash dividends   -   -   -   -   (644,000)   (644,000)  -  -   -   -   (644,000)   -   (644,000)  

Group reorganization  -   144   -   -  -  -  -  -   -   -   144   (144)   -  

Acquisition of subsidiary's additional interest  -   -   -   -  -  -  -  -   -   -   -   (54,247)   (54,247)  

Disposal of part of the subsidiary's equity  -   -   -   -  - - -  -   -   -   -   115,720   115,720  

Differences between consideration and carrying 

amount of subsidiaries acquired or disposed  -   94,638   -   -  - - -  -   -   -   94,638   (94,638)  - 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  -   -   -   -  - - -  -   -   -   -   213,486   213,486  

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries  -   24,552  -   -  - - -  -   -   -   24,552   (24,552)   -  

Stock option compensation cost of subsidiaries  -   -   -   -  - - -  -   -   -   -   23,765   23,765  

Capital injection from non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -  - - -  -   -   -   -   134,000   134,000  

Distribution of cash dividend by subsidiaries to 

non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -  - - -  -   -   -   -   (55,003)  (55,003)  

Disposal of subsidiaries' investments in equity 

instruments designated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income  -   -   -   -   25,747   25,747   -   (25,747)  -   (25,747),410   -   -   -  

Balance at December 31, 2020  2,800,000   3,802,120   934,042   366,541   1,270,104  2,570,687   (499,270)  38,323   (31,323)     (492,270)   8,680,537   1,087,054   9,767,591  

Net income in 2021  -   -   -   -   1,146,533   1,146,533   -   -   -   -   1,146,533   155,089   1,301,622  

Other comprehensive income in 2021  -   -   -   -   -   -   (81,392)   80,225   (5,560)   (6,727)   (6,727)   6,553   (174)  

Total comprehensive income in 2021  -   -   -   -   1,146,533   1,146,533   (81,392)   80,225   (5,560)   (6,727)   1,139,806   161,642   1,301,448  

Appropriation of earnings:               

 Legal reserve  -   -   92,953   -   (92,953)   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Special reserve  -   -   -   (105,663)   105,663   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Cash dividends   -   -   -   -   (700,000)   (700,000)   -   -   -   -   (700,000)   -   (700,000)  

Acquisition of subsidiary's additional interest  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (480)   (480)  

Disposal of part of the subsidiary's equity  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   9,800   9,800  

Differences between consideration and carrying 

amount of subsidiaries acquired or disposed  -   7,092   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   7,092   (7,092)   -  

Acquisition of subsidiaries  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   1,013,755   1,013,755  

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries  -   204,221   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   204,221   (204,221)   -  

Stock option compensation cost of subsidiaries  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   12,627   12,627  

Capital injection from non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   587,399   587,399  

Decrease in non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (1,409)   (1,409)  

Distribution of cash dividend by subsidiaries to 

non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (80,865)   (80,865)  

Disposal of subsidiaries' investments in equity 

instruments designated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income  -   -   -   -   29,189   29,189   -   (29,189)   -   (29,189)   -   -   -  

Balance at December 31, 2021 $   2,800,000  4,132,767   1,116,990   386,607   1,828,344   3,331,941     (765,143)   379,613   (36,993)   (422,523)   9,842,185   2,879,152   12,721,337  
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(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 2021 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities:       

Income before income tax $ 1,653,738  $  1,224,691  

Adjustments:       

Adjustments to reconcile profit or loss:       

Depreciation   992,451   764,671  

Amortization   101,557   67,608  

Expected credit ( gain ) loss  1,163       (3,898)  

Interest expense  75,816   66,810  

Interest income  (9,382)   (43,882)  

Dividend income  (68,070)   (32,152)  

Share-based compensation cost  12,627   23,765  

Share of gain of joint ventures  (4,208)   (3,268)  

Losses ( gains) on disposal and retirement of property, plant and equipment  (862)   3,637 

Losses on disposal of investment properties  (1,909)   1,051  

Gains on bargain purchase - - 

Loss on disposal of investments -  2,217  

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  6,341   75  

  11  - 

Gains on lease remeasurement  1,105,535   (67)  

Total adjustments to reconcile profit or loss  $ 1,653,738   846,567  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Changes in operating assets:       

Decrease ( increase ) in financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 

through profit or loss 

  

8,076  

  

(6,670)  

Decrease ( increase ) in notes and accounts receivable  (679,354)   (785,511)  

Decrease ( increase ) in accounts receivable from related parties  (13,830)   (69,076)  

Decrease ( increase ) in other receivable  108,793   (18,894)  

Decrease ( increase ) in inventories  (3,899,968)   (1,169,552)  

Decrease ( increase ) in prepayments and other current assets  (163,960)   (101,064)  

Total changes in operating assets  (4,640,243)   (2,150,767)  

Changes in operating liabilities:       

Increase in financial liabilities for hedging  (5)   28 

Increase ( decrease ) in notes and accounts payable  634,346   1,367,934 

Increase ( decrease ) in other payables  269,906   207,815  

Increase ( decrease ) in provisions  11,339   12,808  

Decrease in other current liabilities  148,131   (180,382)  

Decrease in net defined benefit liability  (7,603)   (6,984)  

Total changes in operating liabilities  1,056,114   1,401,219  

Total changes in operating assets and liabilities  (3,584,129)   (749,548)  

Total adjustments  (2,478,594)   97,019  

Cash inflow generated from operations  (824,856)   1,321,710  

Interest received  9,440   46,783 

Interest paid  (73,481)   (67,071)  

Income taxes paid  (223,750)   (201,379)  

Net cash provided by operating activities  (1,112,647)   1,100,043  

   

(Continued) 
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(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 2021 2020 

Cash flows from investing activities:       

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  (321,953)  - 

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 

  

 56,095   59,978  

Purchase of financial assets at amortized cost  (47,773)   (500)  

Proceeds from repayments of financial assets at amortized cost  45,773   731,586  

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (800,530)   (1,187,116)  

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  789,325  1,089,660  

Purchase of investments accounted for using equity method  -  (13,333)  

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiaries  (159,469)   (90,159)  

Additions to property, plant and equipment (including prepayments for equipment)  (1,787,561)   (991,847)  

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  10,425   27,004  

Decrease ( increase ) in refundable deposits  (7,701)   116,467  

Additions to intangible assets  (23,200)   (16,030)  

Additions to right-of-use assets  (8,736)   (21,736)  

Additions to investment properties  (100)  - 

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  26,209   63,252   

Increase in other non-current assets  (126,500)   (174,592) 

Dividends received  68,070   32,152  

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (2,287,626)   (375,214)  

Cash flows from financing activities:       

Increase in short-term borrowings  2,540,890   35,901 

Increase in short-term notes and bills payable  -   439,732  

Decrease in short-term notes and bills payable  (439,721)   (200,000)  

Increase in long-term borrowings  2,020,000   1,040,000  

Repayments of long-term borrowings  (12,713)   (446,418)  

Payments of lease liabilities  (106,918)  (88,248) 

Increase ( decrease ) in other non-current liabilities  85,818  8,698 

Cash dividends distributed to shareholders  (700,000)    (644,000)  

Cash dividends paid to non-controlling interests by subsidiaries   (80,865)   (55,003)  

Additions to interests in subsidiaries  (480)   (54,247)  

Disposal of ownership interests in subsidiaries (without losing control)  9,800  115,720  

Capital injection from non-controlling interests  587,399   134,300  

Net cash provided by financing activities  3,903,210   286,435  

Effects of exchange rate changes  (60,417)   (131,051)  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  442,520   880,213  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  2,602,683   1,722,470  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3,045,203  $ 2,602,683  
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Attachment 3 

Independent Auditors Report 

 

 

To the Board of Directors of Darfon Electronics Corp.:  

 

Audit Opinion 

We have audited the parent-company-only financial statements of Darfon Electronics Corp. (the“Company”), which comprise 

the balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 

flows for the years then ended, and notes to the parent-company-only financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying parent-company-only financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then 

ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

Basis for Opinion 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Certification of Financial Statements by 

Certified Public Accountants and the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Only Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Certified Public Accountants 

Code of Professional Ethics in Republic of China (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the parent 

company only financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the parent 

company only financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.  

1. Valuation of inventories: 

Please refer to notes 4(g) for the accounting policies on measuring inventory, notes 5(a) for assumptions used and 

uncertainties considered in determining net realizable value, and notes 6(e) for the disclosure of the amounts of inventory 

write-downs, of the parent-company-only financial statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Due to the rapid innovation of technology, the 

Company's stocks for products may become obsolete and product price may decline rapidly. Furthermore, the stocks for 

products may exceed customers' demands thus becoming obsolete. These factors result in a risk wherein the carrying amount 

of inventory may exceed its net realizable value. Particularly, the estimation of net realizable value requires the 

management's subjective judgments. Therefore, the valuation of inventories has been identified as one of the key audit 

matters. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included reviewing the inventory of aging report and 

analyzing the fluctuation of inventory aging; selecting samples to verify the accuracy of inventory aging; evaluating whether 

valuation of inventories was accounted for in accordance with the Company's accounting policies; and assessing the 

historical reasonableness of management's estimates of inventory provisions.
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2. Investment in the subsidiaries 

Please refer to notes 4(i) and 6(f) for the accounting policy on business combination, and “Investment in the subsidiaries ’for 

the related disclosure, respectively, of the notes to the parent-company-only financial statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

In 2021 the Company acquired 51.00% ownership of Astro Tech Co., Ltd.(ATC), wherein the Company is able to exercise 

control over it. To adopt the accounting treatment of business combination, the management needs to determine the fair 

value of the identifiable assets and liabilities. The assessment is complex and involves significant assumptions and 

estimation. Accordingly, investment in the subsidiaries has been identified as one of the key audit matters. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included obtaining the purchase price allocation 

report with valuation on intangible assets conducted by an external expert engaged by the management; and evaluating the 

acquired assets and liabilities identified by the management including any fair value adjustment at the acquisition date. In 

doing so, we have consulted internal valuation specialists to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation model 

and key assumptions used. We have also assessed whether correct accounting treatment has been applied, and appropriate 

disclosures with respect to the acquisition has been made. 

3. Impairment of goodwill included in the carrying amount of investment in the subsidiaries 

Please refer to notes 4(m) for the accounting policy on impairment of non-financial assets, notes 5(b) for the estimation 

uncertainty of impairment of goodwill, and 6(f) for related disclosures of impairment test of goodwill, of the 

parent-company-only financial statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

Goodwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries, which are included in the carrying amount of investments accounted for 

using equity method. Goodwill is annually subject to impairment test or when there are indications that goodwill may have 

been impaired. The assessment of the recoverable amount of goodwill from cash generating units involves management's 

judgment and estimation. Accordingly, the assessment of impairment of goodwill has been identified as one of the key audit 

matters. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included obtaining the assessment of impairment of 

goodwill provided by the management; assessing the appropriateness of the valuation model and key assumptions, including 

the discount rate, expected growth rate and future cash flow projections, used by the management in measuring the 

recoverable amount; performing a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions; and assessing the adequacy of the Company's 

disclosures with respect to the related information on goodwill impairment. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent-Company-Only Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent-company-only financial statements in 

accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of parent-company-only financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the parent-company-only financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 

to do so. 

Those charged with governance (including members of the Audit Committee) are responsible for overseeing the Company's 

financial reporting process. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent-Company-Only Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent-company-only financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the auditing 

standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these parent-company-only financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, we exercised 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the parent-company-only financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

4. Concluded on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the parent-company-only financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 

concern.  

5. Evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent-company-only financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the parent-company-only financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the investment in other entities 

accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion on the parent-company-only financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remained solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

 
 

We communicated with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit 

opinion. 

We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determined those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the parent-company-only financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We described these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determined that a matter should not be 

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 

public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report are Huei-Chen Chang and Wei-Ming 

Shih. 

 

 
KPMG 

 

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China) 

March 8, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notice to Readers 

The accompanying parent company only financial statements are intended only to present the financial position, financial 

performance, and cash flows in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such parent company only financial statements are those generally 

accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

The independent auditors’ report and the accompanying parent company only financial statements are the English translation of 

the Chinese version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the 

interpretation of the English version and Chinese version, the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and parent company 

only financial statements shall prevail. 



(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Balance Sheets  

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 
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  2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

 Assets Amount ％ Amount ％ 

  Current assets:       

1100   Cash and cash equivalents (note 6(a)) $ 64,900   -   219,846   1  

1110   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss－

current(note 6(b))  1,203   -   8,571   -  

1170   Notes and accounts receivable, net (notes 6(d) and (p))  5,465,122   23   4,733,757   24  

1180   Accounts receivable from related parties (notes 6(d) & (p) 

and 7)  1,612,017   7   1,353,352   7  

130X   Inventories (note 6(e))  1,400,176   6   1,336,386   7  

1470   Prepayments and other current assets  91,971   1   106,058   -  

   Total current assets  8,635,389   37   7,757,970   39  

  Non-current assets:             

1517   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income-non-current (note 6(c)) 

 1,213,707   5   1,058,383   5  

1550   Investments accounted for using equity method (note 6(f) 

and 7) 

 10,646,474   45   8,282,166   41  

1600   Property, plant and equipment (notes 6(g)、7 and 8)  2,746,869   12   2,635,063   13  

1840   Deferred income tax assets ((notes 6(m))  103,068   -   154,831   1  

1915   Prepayments for equipment  181,050   1   30,842   -  

1920   Refundable deposits  1,080   -   1,483   -  

1990   Other non-current assets (note 6(f))  1,647   -   180,920   1  

   Total non-current assets  14,893,895   63   12,343,688   61  

  Total assets $ 23,529,284   100   20,101,658   100  

(Continued) 
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  2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

  Liabilities and Equity Amount ％ Amount ％ 

  Current liabilities：     

2100   Short-term borrowings (note 6(h)) $ 2,222,548   9   1,540,000   8  

2110   Short-term notes and bills payable (note 6(i))  -   -   439,721   2  

2170   Notes and accounts payable  360,918   2   343,533   2  

2180   Accounts payable - related parties (note 7)  5,768,066   25   5,343,545   26  

2200   Other payables (notes 6(q) and 7)  1,320,430   6   1,175,177   6  

2250   Provision-current (note 6(k))  79,089   -   79,039   -  

2300   Other current liabilities (note 6(p))  255,668   1   332,496   2  

   Total current liabilities  10,006,719   43   9,253,511   46  

  Non-current liabilities：              

2540   Long-term debt (notes 6(j) and 8)  3,620,000   15   1,600,000   8   

2640   Net defined benefit liability - non-current (note 6(l))  59,601   -   56,165   -   

2670   Other non-current liabilities  779   -   916   -   

  Total non-current liabilities  3,680,380   15   1,657,081   8   

    Total liabilities  13,687,099   58   10,910,592   54   

  Equity (note 6(f)and(n))：      

3110   Common stock  2,800,000   12   2,800,000   14   

3200   Capital surplus  4,132,767   18   3,921,454   20   

   Retained earnings:      

3310     Legal reserve  1,116,990   5   1,024,037   5   

3320    Special reserve  386,607   1   492,270   2   

3350     Unappropriated earnings  1,828,344   8   1,339,912   7   

 
 

 3,331,941   14   2,856,219   14   

   Other Equity：      

3410    Foreign currency translation differences  (765,143)   (4)   (683,751)   (4)   

3420     Unrealized gain (loss) from financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income   379,613   2   328,577   2   

3445    Remeasurement of defined benefit   (36,993)   -   (31,433)   -   

 
 

 (422,523)   (2)   (386,607)   (2)   

    Total equity  9,842,185   42   9,191,066   46  

  Total liabilities and equity $ 23,529,284   100   20,101,658   100  



(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Statements of Comprehensive Income 
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  2021 2020 

  Amount ％ Amount ％ 

4000  Net sales (notes 6(p) and 7) $ 17,702,426   100   15,056,289   100  

5000  Costs of sales (note 6(e), (g), (k), (l) & (q),7 and 12)   (15,782,173)       (89)     (13,068,948)       (87) 

5900  Gross profit  1,920,253   11   1,987,341   13  

5910  Less: Unrealized (realized) profit on sales  (67,519)   (1)   (54,766)   -  

5950  Realized gross profit  1,852,734   10   1,932,575   13  

6000  Operating Expenses (notes 6(g), (l),& (q), 7 and 12)     

6100   Selling expenses  (436,720)   (2)   (546,710)   (4)  

6200   Administrative expenses  (332,169)   (2)   (358,335)   (2)  

6300   Research and development expenses  (505,952)   (3)   (511,006)   (4)  

6000    Total operating expenses  (1,274,841)   (7)   (1,416,051)   (10)  

6900  Operating income  577,893   3   516,524   3  

7000  Non-operating income and expenses (Notes 6(f), (g) & (r) 

and 7)     

7100   Interest income  172   -   1,401   -  

7010   Other income  72,452   -   49,264   -  

7020   Other gains and losses  (20,245)   -   67,376   1  

7050   Financial Costs  (45,912)   -   (34,451)   -  

7070   Share of the profit of subsidiaries accounted for using 
equity method  690,925   4   450,315   3  

    Total non-operating income and loss  697,392   4   533,905   4  

7900  Income before income tax  1,275,285   7   1,050,429   7  

7950  Income tax expenses (note 6(m))  (128,752)   (1)   (146,644)   (1)  

8200  Net income  1,146,533   6   903,785   6  

  Other comprehensive income(note 6(l),(m)&(n)):     

8310  Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:     

8311  Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  (7,216)   -   (55)   -  

8316  Unrealized gains (losses) on investments in equity instruments 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  58,339   -   279,676   2  

8330  Share of the other comprehensive income of subsidiaries 

accounted for using equity method  22,099   -   36,259   -  

8349  Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss  1,443   -   11   -  

   74,665   -   315,891   2  

8360  Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

8361  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (74,547)   -   (174,772)   (1)  

8380  Share of the other comprehensive income of subsidiaries and 

joint ventures accounted for using equity method  (6,845)   -   (9,709)   -  

8399  Income tax related to items that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss  -   -   -   -  

   (81,392)   -   (184,481)   (1)  

  Other comprehensive income (loss)for the year, net of 

income tax  (6,727)   -   131,410   1  

8500  Total comprehensive income for the year $ 1,139,806   6   1,035,195   7  

 Earnings per share (in New Taiwan dollars)(note 6(o))   

9750  Basic earnings per share $ 4.09   3.23  

9850  Diluted earnings per share $ 4.05   3.19  
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(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 

 

 

       Other equity  
     Unrealized gains 

  (losses) from 

   

   
Retained Earnings Foreign 

financial asset 

at fair value  

  

  

Common  

stock  

 

Capital 

Surplus 

 

Legal  

reserve 

 

Special  

reserve 

 

Unappropriated 

earnings 

 

 

Subtotal 

currency 

Translation  

Differences 

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

Remeasurements 

of defined benefit 

plans  Subtotal 

 

 

Total equity 

Balance at January 1, 2020  $ 2,800,000   3,802,120   934,042   366,541   1,270,104   2,570,687   (499,270)   38,323   (31,323)   (492,270)   8,680,537  

Net income  -   -   -   -   903,785   903,785   -   -   -   -   903,785  

Other comprehensive income   -   -   -   -   -   -   (184,481)   316,001   (110)   131,410   131,410  

Total comprehensive income  -   -   -   -   903,785   903,785   (184,481)   316,001   (110)   131,410   1,035,195  

Appropriation of earnings:            

 Legal reserve  -   -   89,995   -   (89,995)   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Special reserve  -   -   -   125,729   (125,729)   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Cash dividends  -   -   -   -   (644,000)   (644,000)   -   -   -   -   (644,000)  

Organizational restructuring  -   144   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   144  

Difference between consideration and carrying amount of subsidiaries acquired or disposed  -   94,638   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   94,638  

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries  -   24,552   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   24,552  

Disposal of investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive 

income  -   -   -   -   25,747   25,747   -   (25,747)   -   (25,747)   -  

Balance on December 31, 2020  2,800,000   3,921,454   1,024,037   492,270   1,339,912   2,856,219   (683,751)   328,577   (31,433)   (386,607)   9,191,066  

Net income  -   -   -   -   1,146,533   1,146,533   -   -   -   -   1,146,533  

Other comprehensive income   -   -   -   -   -   -   (81,392)   80,225   (5,560)   (6,727)   (6,727)  

Total comprehensive income  -   -   -   -   1,146,533   1,146,533   (81,392)   80,225   (5,560)   (6,727)   1,139,806  

Appropriation of earnings:            

 Legal reserve  -   -   92,953   -   (92,953)   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Special reserve  -   -   -   (105,663)   105,663   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Cash dividends  -   -   -   -   (700,000)   (700,000)   -   -   -   -   (700,000)  

Difference between consideration and carrying amount of subsidiaries acquired  -   7,092   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   7,092  

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries  -   204,221   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   204,221  

Disposal of investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive 

income  -   -   -   -   29,189   29,189   -   (29,189)   -   (29,189)   -  

Balance on December 31, 2021 $ 2,800,000   4,132,767   1,116,990   386,607   1,828,344   3,331,941   (765,143)   379,613   (36,993)   (422,523)   9,842,185  
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(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
 

 2021 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities：       
 Income before income tax $ 1,275,286   1,050,429  
 Adjustments：       
   Adjustments to reconcile profit or (loss)：       
   Depreciation   197,590   167,988  
   Amortization   2,211   12,200  
   Interest expense  45,912   34,451  
   Interest income  (172)   (1,401)  
   Dividend income  (54,839)   (27,419)  
   Employees' compensation from subsidiaries  3,468   11,567  

   Share of the profit of subsidiaries accounted for using equity method  (690,925)   (450,315)  
Gains on disposal and retirement of property, plant , equipment and 

intangible assets 
 (4,900)   (7,817)  

   Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  172   -  

   Unrealized (realized) profit from sales  67,519   54,766  

    Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)  (433,964)   (205,980)  
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities :       
   Changes in operating assets：       
    Decrease( increase ) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  7,368   (5,901)  
    Increase in notes and accounts receivable  (731,365)   (1,146,276)  
    Increase in accounts receivable from related parties  (258,665)   (555,466)  
    Increase in inventories  (63,790)   (339,068)  
    Decrease ( increase ) in prepayments and other current assets  14,087   (19,036)  

     Total changes in operating assets  (1,032,365)   (2,065,747)  

   Change in operating liabilities：       
    Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable  17,385   (14,232)  
    Increase in accounts payable to related parties  424,521   1,544,448  

    Increase in other payable  175,641   75,169  
     Increase in provisions  50   11,456  
    Decrease in other current liability  (76,802)   (170,323)  
    Decrease in net defined benefit liability  (3,780)   (6,075)  
      Total change in operating liabilities  537,015   1,440,443  
     Total changes in operating assets and liabilities   (495,350)   (625,304)  

   Total adjustment  (929,314)   (831,284)  
  Cash inflow generated from operations  345,972   219,145  
  Interest received  172   1,401  
  Interest paid  (45,190)   (34,591)  
  Income tax paid  (113,370)   (66,344)  

   Net cash provided by operating activities  187,584   119,611  

(Continued) 
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(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Cash Flows (Continued) 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 

 2021 2020 

Cash flows from investing activities：       

Purchase of financial assets at amortized cost  (96,985)   -  

Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at amortized cost  -   224,857  

Purchase of investments accounted for using equity method  (1,675,330)   (494,561)  

Disposal of investments accounted for using equity method  9,800   70,696  

Proceed from capital reduction of equity-accounted investees  120,249   827,382  

Additions to property, plant and equipment (including prepayments for 

equipment) 
 (454,247)   (467,415)  

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,543   1,178  

Decrease in refundable deposits  403   122,495  

Disposal of intangible assets  -   28,062  

Increase in other non-current assets  -   (176,897)  

Dividends received  189,373   107,490  

 Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities  (1,905,194)   243,287  

Cash flows from financing activities：       

Increase ( decrease ) in short-term borrowings  682,548   (460,000)  

Increase in short-term notes and bills payable  -   439,732  

Decrease in short-term notes and bills payable  (439,721)   (200,000)  

Increase in long-term debt  2,020,000   1,040,000  

Repayments of long-term debt  -   (440,000)  

Payments of lease liabilities  (163)   (592)  

Increase in other non-current liabilities  -   428  

Cash dividends distributed to shareholders  (700,000)   (644,000)  

    Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities   1,562,664   (264,432)  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   (154,946)   98,466  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  219,846   121,380  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 64,900   219,846  
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Attachment 4 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

2021 Earnings Distribution Table 

（Unit: NTD＄） 

Items Amount 

Unappropriated retained earnings of prior years    652,622,127 

Add: Net profit after tax 1,146,532,680 

Add: Disposal of investments in equity instruments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive income 

29,189,400 

Less: 10% provisioned as legal reserve (117,572,208) 

Less: provisioned as special reserve (35,915,989) 

Distributable net profit 1,674,856,010 

Distributable item:   

Cash dividends to common shareholders  (840,000,003) 

Unappropriated retained earnings 834,856,007 

Notes:  

The cash dividend distribution to each shareholder will be paid to the rounded-down full NT dollar. 

Amounts less than one whole NT dollar are rounded-down to the nearest NT dollar. The aggregate 

unpaid cash dividend resulting from the above rounded-down, will be distributed to shareholders in 

the descending order of decimal point and the ascending order of shareholder account numbers, until 

the total amount of the approved cash dividend has been fully distributed. 
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Attachment 5 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Comparison table for the Articles of Incorporation before and after amendment 

 

Article  

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 10 Shareholders' meetings shall be of two types, 

ordinary meetings and extraordinary meetings. 

Ordinary meetings shall be convened annually by 

the Board within six months of the end of each 

fiscal year. Extraordinary meetings shall be 

convened in accordance with the relevant laws, 

whenever necessary. 

Shareholders' meetings shall be of two types, 

ordinary meetings and extraordinary meetings. 

Ordinary meetings shall be convened annually by 

the Board within six months of the end of each 

fiscal year. Extraordinary meetings shall be 

convened in accordance with the relevant laws, 

whenever necessary. 

Shareholders’ meeting can be held by means of 

visual communication network or other methods 

promulgated by the central competent authority. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 22 These Articles of Incorporation were enacted on 

April 30, 1997. 

(omitted) 

The twenty-second amendment was made on June 

18, 2020. 

These Articles of Incorporation were enacted on 

April 30, 1997. 

(omitted) 

The twenty-second amendment was made on June 

18, 2020.  

The twenty-third amendment was made on June 

16, 2022. 

added 

amendment 

date 
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Attachment 6 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Comparison table for the Handling Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of Assets 

before and after amendment 

Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 4 Public Disclosure of Information 

1.Under  any of the following circumstances, the 

Company and its subsidiaries acquiring or disposing 

of assets shall publicly announce and report the 

relevant information on the FSC's designated 

website in the appropriate format as prescribed by 

regulations within 2 days counting inclusively from 

the date of occurrence of the event: 

(omitted) 

(f)Where an asset transaction other than any of those 

referred to in the preceding five subparagraphs, 

or an investment in the mainland China area 

reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital or 

NT$300 million; provided, this shall not apply to 

the following circumstances: 

(i)Trading of bonds under repurchase and resale 

agreements, or subscription or redemption of 

money market funds issued by domestic 

securities investment trust enterprises. 

(ii)Trading of domestic government bonds  

 

 

 

 

The amount of transactions above shall be 

calculated as follows: 

1)The amount of any individual transaction. 

2)The cumulative transaction amount of 

acquisitions and disposals of the same type of 

underlying asset with the same transaction 

counterparty within the preceding year. 

3)The cumulative transaction amount of 

acquisitions and disposals (cumulative 

acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of real 

property or right-of-use assets thereof within the 

same development project within the preceding 

year. 

4)The cumulative transaction amount of 

acquisitions and disposals (cumulative 

acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the 

same security within the preceding year. 

2.Where any of the following circumstances occurs 

with respect to a transaction that the Company has 

Public Disclosure of Information 

1.Under any of the following circumstances, the 

Company and its subsidiaries acquiring or disposing 

of assets shall publicly announce and report the 

relevant information on the FSC's designated 

website in the appropriate format as prescribed by 

regulations within 2 days counting inclusively from 

the date of occurrence of the event: 

(omitted) 

(f)Where an asset transaction other than any of those 

referred to in the preceding six subparagraphs, a 

disposal of receivables by a financial institution, 

or an investment in the mainland China area 

reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital or 

NT$300 million; provided, this shall not apply to 

the following circumstances: 

(i)Trading of bonds under repurchase and resale 

agreements, or subscription or redemption of 

money market funds issued by domestic 

securities investment trust enterprises. 

(ii)Trading of domestic government bonds or a 

foreign central government with a sovereign 

rating not lower than the sovereign rating of 

the ROC. 

2.The amount of transactions above shall be 

calculated as follows: 

(a)The amount of any individual transaction. 

(b)The cumulative transaction amount of 

acquisitions and disposals of the same type of 

underlying asset with the same transaction 

counterparty within the preceding year. 

(c)The cumulative transaction amount of 

acquisitions and disposals (cumulative 

acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of real 

property or right-of-use assets thereof within the 

same development project within the preceding 

year. 

(d) The cumulative transaction amount of 

acquisitions and disposals (cumulative 

acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the 

same security within the preceding year. 

3.Where any of the following circumstances occurs 

with respect to a transaction that the Company has 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations and 

adjust reference 

line 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 4 already publicly announced and reported in 

accordance with the preceding article, a public 

report of relevant information shall be made on the 

information reporting website within 2 days 

counting inclusively from the date of occurrence of 

the event change, termination, or rescission of a 

contract signed in regard to the original transaction; 

the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of 

shares is not completed by the scheduled date set 

forth in the contract ;and change to the originally 

publicly announced and reported information. 

3.Date of occurrence refers to the date of contract 

signing, date of payment, date of consignment trade, 

date of transfer, dates of boards of directors 

resolutions, or other date that can confirm the 

counterpart and monetary amount of the transaction, 

whichever date is earlier; provided, for investment 

for which approval of the competent authority is 

required, the earlier of the above date or the date of 

receipt of approval by the competent authority shall 

apply. 

4.When the Company at the time of public 

announcement makes an error or omission in an 

item required by regulations to be publicly 

announced and so is required to correct it, all the 

items shall be again publicly announced and 

reported in their entirety within two days counting 

inclusively from the date of knowing of such error 

or omission. 

already publicly announced and reported in 

accordance with the preceding article, a public 

report of relevant information shall be made on the 

information reporting website within 2 days 

counting inclusively from the date of occurrence of 

the event change, termination, or rescission of a 

contract signed in regard to the original transaction; 

the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of 

shares is not completed by the scheduled date set 

forth in the contract ;and change to the originally 

publicly announced and reported information. 

4.Date of occurrence refers to the date of contract 

signing, date of payment, date of consignment trade, 

date of transfer, dates of boards of directors 

resolutions, or other date that can confirm the 

counterpart and monetary amount of the transaction, 

whichever date is earlier; provided, for investment 

for which approval of the competent authority is 

required, the earlier of the above date or the date of 

receipt of approval by the competent authority shall 

apply. 

5.When the Company at the time of public 

announcement makes an error or omission in an 

item required by regulations to be publicly 

announced and so is required to correct it, all the 

items shall be again publicly announced and 

reported in their entirety within two days counting 

inclusively from the date of knowing of such error 

or omission. 

 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations and 

adjust reference 

line 

Article 5 Acquiring or disposing of real property, equipment, or 

right-of-use assets shall obtain an appraisal report 

1.In acquiring or disposing of real property, 

equipment, or right-of-use assets thereof where the 

transaction amount reaches 20 percent of the 

Company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 

more, our company, unless transacting with a 

domestic government agency, engaging others to 

build on its own land, engaging others to build on 

rented land, or acquiring or disposing of equipment 

or right-of-use assets thereof held for business use, 

shall obtain an appraisal report prior to the date of 

occurrence of the event from a professional 

appraiser and shall further comply with the 

following provisions: 

(omitted) 

(c)Where any one of the following circumstances 

applies with respect to the professional 

appraiser's appraisal results, unless all the 

Acquiring or disposing of real property, equipment, or 

right-of-use assets shall obtain an appraisal report 

1.In acquiring or disposing of real property, 

equipment, or right-of-use assets thereof where the 

transaction amount reaches 20 percent of the 

Company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 

more, our Company, unless transacting with a 

domestic government agency, engaging others to 

build on its own land, engaging others to build on 

rented land, or acquiring or disposing of equipment 

or right-of-use assets thereof held for business use, 

shall obtain an appraisal report prior to the date of 

occurrence of the event from a professional 

appraiser and shall further comply with the 

following provisions: 

(omitted) 

(c)Where any one of the following circumstances 

applies with respect to the professional 

appraiser's appraisal results, unless all the 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 5 appraisal results for the assets to be acquired are 

higher than the transaction amount, or all the 

appraisal results for the assets to be disposed of 

are lower than the transaction amount, a certified 

public accountant shall be engaged to perform 

the appraisal in accordance with the provisions of 

Statement of Auditing Standards No. 20 

published by the ROC Accounting Research and 

Development Foundation (ARDF) and render a 

specific opinion regarding the reason for the 

discrepancy and the appropriateness of the 

transaction price: 

A. The discrepancy between the appraisal result 

and the transaction amount is 20 percent or 

more of the transaction amount. 

B. The discrepancy between the appraisal results 

of two or more professional appraisers is 10 

percent or more of the transaction amount. 

(omitted) 

appraisal results for the assets to be acquired are 

higher than the transaction amount, or all the 

appraisal results for the assets to be disposed of 

are lower than the transaction amount, a certified 

public accountant shall be engaged to perform 

the appraisal and render a specific opinion 

regarding the reason for the discrepancy and the 

appropriateness of the transaction price: 

A. The discrepancy between the appraisal result 

and the transaction amount is 20 percent or 

more of the transaction amount. 

B. The discrepancy between the appraisal results 

of two or more professional appraisers is 10 

percent or more of the transaction amount. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 6 The CPA’s opinion shall be obtained for acquisition or 

disposal of securities, membership and intangible 

assets or right-of-use assets thereof 

1.A Company acquiring or disposing of securities 

shall, prior to the date of occurrence of the event, 

obtain financial statements of the issuing company 

for the most recent period, certified or reviewed by 

a certified public accountant, for reference in 

appraising the transaction price, and if the dollar 

amount of the transaction is 20 percent of the 

Company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 

more, the Company shall additionally engage a 

certified public accountant prior to the date of 

occurrence of the event to provide an opinion 

regarding the reasonableness of the transaction 

price. If the CPA needs to use the report of an expert 

as evidence, the CPA shall do so in accordance with 

the provisions of Statement of Auditing Standards 

No. 20 published by the ARDF. This requirement 

does not apply, however, to publicly quoted prices 

of securities that have an active market, or where 

otherwise provided by regulations of the Financial 

Supervisory Commission (FSC). 

2.Where the Company acquires or disposes of 

intangible assets or right-of-use assets thereof or 

memberships and the transaction amount reaches 20 

percent or more of paid-in capital or NT$300 

million or more, except in transactions with a 

domestic government agency, the Company shall  

The CPA’s opinion shall be obtained for acquisition or 

disposal of securities, membership and intangible 

assets or right-of-use assets thereof 

1. A Company acquiring or disposing of securities 

shall, prior to the date of occurrence of the event, 

obtain financial statements of the issuing company 

for the most recent period, certified or reviewed by 

a certified public accountant, for reference in 

appraising the transaction price, and if the dollar 

amount of the transaction is 20 percent of the 

Company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 

more, the Company shall additionally engage a 

certified public accountant prior to the date of 

occurrence of the event to provide an opinion 

regarding the reasonableness of the transaction 

price. This requirement does not apply, however, to 

publicly quoted prices of securities that have an 

active market, or where otherwise provided by 

regulations of the Financial Supervisory 

Commission (FSC). 

 

 

 

2. Where the Company acquires or disposes of 

intangible assets or right-of-use assets thereof or 

memberships and the transaction amount reaches 

20 percent or more of paid-in capital or NT$300 

million or more, except in transactions with a 

domestic government agency, the Company shall  

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 6 engage a certified public accountant prior to the 

date of occurrence of the event to render an opinion 

on the reasonableness of the transaction price; the 

CPA shall comply with the provisions of Statement 

of Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the 

ARDF. 

(omitted) 

engage a certified public accountant prior to the 

date of occurrence of the event to render an opinion 

on the reasonableness of the transaction price. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 7 Excluding related party 

Professional appraisers and their officers, certified 

public accounts, attorneys, and securities underwriters 

that provide the companies with appraisal reports, 

certified public accountant's opinions, attorney's 

opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall meet the 

following requirements: 

(omitted) 

When issuing an appraisal report or opinion, the 

personnel referred to in the preceding paragraph shall 

comply with the following: 

 

1.Prior to accepting a case, they shall prudently 

assess their own professional capabilities, practical 

experience, and independence. 

2.When auditing a case, they shall appropriately plan 

and execute adequate working procedures, in order 

to produce a conclusion and use the conclusion as 

the basis for issuing the report or opinion. The 

related working procedures, data collected, and 

conclusion shall be fully and accurately specified 

in the case working papers. 

3.They shall undertake an item-by-item evaluation of 

the comprehensiveness, accuracy, and 

reasonableness of the sources of data used the 

parameters and the information, as the basis for 

issuance of the appraisal report or the opinion. 

4.They shall issue a statement attesting to the 

professional competence and independence of the 

personnel who prepared the report or opinion, and 

that they have evaluated and found that the 

information used is reasonable and accurate, and 

that they have complied with applicable laws and 

regulations. 

Excluding related party 

Professional appraisers and their officers, certified 

public accounts, attorneys, and securities underwriters 

that provide the companies with appraisal reports, 

certified public accountant's opinions, attorney's 

opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall meet the 

following requirements: 

(omitted) 

When issuing an appraisal report or opinion, the 

personnel referred to in the preceding paragraph shall 

comply with the principle of trade union and the 

following: 

1.Prior to accepting a case, they shall prudently 

assess their own professional capabilities, practical 

experience, and independence. 

2.When examining a case, they shall appropriately 

plan and execute adequate working procedures, in 

order to produce a conclusion and use the 

conclusion as the basis for issuing the report or 

opinion. The related working procedures, data 

collected, and conclusion shall be fully and 

accurately specified in the case working papers. 

3.They shall undertake an item-by-item evaluation of 

the appropriateness and reasonableness of the 

sources of data used the parameters and the 

information, as the basis for issuance of the 

appraisal report or the opinion. 

4.They shall issue a statement attesting to the 

professional competence and independence of the 

personnel who prepared the report or opinion, and 

that they have evaluated and found that the 

information used is reasonable and appropriate, 

and that they have complied with applicable laws 

and regulations. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 9 

 

Related person transactions  

(omitted) 

2.When a Company intends to acquire or dispose of 

real property or right-of-use assets thereof from or 

to a related party, or when it intends to acquire or 

dispose of assets other than real property or 

right-of-use assets thereof from or to a related party 

and the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or 

more of paid-in capital, 10 percent or more of the 

Company's total assets, or NT$300 million or more, 

except in trading of domestic government bonds or 

bonds under repurchase and resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of money market funds 

issued by domestic securities investment trust 

enterprises, the Company may not proceed to enter 

into a transaction contract or make a payment until 

the following matters have been recognized by the 

audit committee and approved by the board of 

directors. Where the position of independent 

director has been created in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act, when the procedures for the 

acquisition and disposal of assets are submitted for 

discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the 

preceding paragraph, the board of directors shall 

take into full consideration each independent 

director's opinions. If an independent director 

objects to or expresses reservations about any 

matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

board of directors meeting. Where the position of 

independent director has been created in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act, when the 

procedures for the acquisition and disposal of assets 

are submitted for discussion by the board of 

directors pursuant to the preceding paragraph, the 

board of directors shall take into full consideration 

each independent director's opinions. If an 

independent director objects to or expresses 

reservations about any matter, it shall be recorded 

in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. 

Where an audit committee has been established in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act, they 

shall be approved by one-half or more of all audit 

committee members and submitted to the board of 

directors for a resolution, and shall be subject to 

mutatis mutandis application of Article 15. 

Related person transactions  

(omitted) 

2.When a Company intends to acquire or dispose of 

real property or right-of-use assets thereof from or 

to a related party, or when it intends to acquire or 

dispose of assets other than real property or 

right-of-use assets thereof from or to a related party 

and the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or 

more of paid-in capital, 10 percent or more of the 

Company's total assets, or NT$300 million or more, 

except in trading of domestic government bonds or 

bonds under repurchase and resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of money market funds 

issued by domestic securities investment trust 

enterprises, the Company may not proceed to enter 

into a transaction contract or make a payment until 

the following matters have been recognized by the 

audit committee and approved by the board of 

directors. Where the position of independent 

director has been created in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act, when the procedures for the 

acquisition and disposal of assets are submitted for 

discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the 

preceding paragraph, the board of directors shall 

take into full consideration each independent 

director's opinions. If an independent director 

objects to or expresses reservations about any 

matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

board of directors meeting. Where the position of 

independent director has been created in accordance 

with the provisions of the Act, when the procedures 

for the acquisition and disposal of assets are 

submitted for discussion by the board of directors 

pursuant to the preceding paragraph, the board of 

directors shall take into full consideration each 

independent director's opinions. If an independent 

director objects to or expresses reservations about 

any matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

board of directors meeting. Where an audit 

committee has been established in accordance with 

the provisions of the Act, they shall be approved by 

one-half or more of all audit committee members 

and submitted to the board of directors for a 

resolution, and shall be subject to mutatis mutandis 

application of Article 15. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 9 

 

  

(omitted) 

(g)Restrictive covenants and other important 

stipulations associated with the transaction. 

The calculation of the transaction amounts referred 

to the procedures shall be made in accordance with 

Article 4, herein, and "within the preceding year" 

as used herein refers to the year preceding the date 

of occurrence of the current transaction. Items that 

have been approved by the board of directors and 

recognized by the audit committee need not be 

counted toward the transaction amount. 

(omitted) 

(omitted) 

(g)Restrictive covenants and other important 

stipulations associated with the transaction. 

With respect to the types of transactions, 

acquisition or disposal of equipment or right-of-use 

assets thereof held for business use and real 

property right-of-use assets held for business use , 

when to be conducted between the Company and 

its subsidiaries, or between its subsidiaries in which 

it directly or indirectly holds 100 percent of the 

issued shares or authorized capital, the Chairman 

may decide such matters when the transaction is 

within NT$300 million and have the decisions 

subsequently submitted to the next Audit 

Committee and Board of Directors' Meeting for 

ratification. 

When the Company engages in any acquisition or 

disposal of assets from any subsidiaries that are not 

domestic public companies and the transaction 

amount 

reaches 10% or more of the Company's total assets, 

the Company may not proceed to enter into a 

transaction contract or make a payment until the 

following matters have been approved by the 

shareholders’ meeting. 

However, the transactions of Company and its 

subsidiaries or between its subsidiaries shall not 

apply. 

The calculation of the transaction amounts referred 

to the procedures shall be made in accordance with 

Article 4, herein, and "within the preceding year" 

as used herein refers to the year preceding the date 

of occurrence of the current transaction. Items that 

have been approved by the shareholders’ meeting, 

the board of directors and recognized by the audit 

committee need not be counted toward the 

transaction amount. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 16 (omitted) 

Our Company sets limits on total and individual amounts of securities and total amounts of real 

property and right-of-use assets acquired for non-business use by the Company and each 

subsidiary. 

The authority matrix of Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of Assets is as below： 

Asset Item 
Approval 

Personnel 

Approval and 

Decision 

Total Amount of 

Investment 

Limits for 

Individual 

Investment 

Real estate and 

right-of-use 

assets for 

non-operating 

purpose 

Board of Directors 
All should be 

approved by BOD. 
30% of net equity 15% of net equity 

Equity 

investment 

Board of Directors 

Chairman 

Above 

NT$100,000,000 

Under 

NT$100,000,000 

(incl.) 

net equity 50% of net equity 

Long-term 

Guaranteed or 

Collateralized 

Bonds 

Chairman 

President 

 

Above 

NT$100,000 

thousand 

Under 

NT$100,000 

thousand (incl.) 

30% of net equity 15% of net equity 

Short-term bonds 

and money 

market fund 

President 

CFO 

Above 

NT$100,000 

thousand 

Under 

NT$100,000 

thousand (incl.) 

30% of net equity 15% of net equity 

Other securities 
Chairman 

President 

Above NT$50,000 

thousand 

Under NT$50,000 

thousand (incl.) 

10% of net equity 5% of net equity 

※Short-term bonds shall not be operated through the principle of doubling the multiplier by any 

means of pledge, margin or similar, which will result in the effect of expanding profits and 

losses. 

※Investment and establishment of the Company's direct or indirect holding of 100% of the 

shares of subsidiaries are not subject to the limit of the total investment of long-term equity. 

※The equity refers to total equity attributable to shareholders of each Company in balance sheet 

(omitted) 

Our Company sets limits on total and individual amounts of securities and total amounts of real 

property and right-of-use assets acquired for non-business use by the Company and each 

subsidiary. 

The authority matrix of Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of Assets is as below： 

Asset Item Approval Personnel 
Approval and 

Decision 

Total Amount of 

Investment 

Limits for 

Individual 

Investment 

Real estate and 

right-of-use 

assets for 

non-operating 

purpose 

Board of Directors Above NT$100million 

30% of net 

equity  

15% of net 

equity 
Decided by board 

chairman, and ratified 

by BOD. 

Under NT$100million 

(incl.) 

Equity 

investment 

Board of Directors 

Chairman 

Above  

NT$100million 

Under  

NT$100million (incl.) 

net equity 
50% of net 

equity 

Long-term 

Guaranteed or 

Collateralized 

Bonds 

Chairman 

President 

Above  

NT$100million 

Under  

NT$100million 

(incl.) 

30% of net 

equity 

15% of net 

equity 

Short-term 

bonds and 

money market 

fund 

President 

CFO 

Above  

NT$100million 

Under  

NT$100million 

(incl.) 

30% of net 

equity 

15% of net 

equity 

Other securities 
Chairman 

President 

Above NT$50million 

Under NT$50million 

(incl.) 

10% of net 

equity 

5% of net 

equity 

 ※Short-term bonds shall not be operated through the principle of doubling the multiplier by any 

means of pledge, margin or similar, which will result in the effect of expanding profits and 

losses. 

※Investment and establishment of the Company's direct or indirect holding of 100% of the shares 

of subsidiaries are not subject to the limit of the total investment of long-term equity. 

※The equity refers to total equity attributable to shareholders of each Company in balance sheet. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 



 

34 

Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 17 The Procedures were adopted on January 26, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 8th amended was made on June 13, 2019. 

 

The Procedures were adopted on January 26, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 8th amended was made on June 13, 2019. 

The 9th amended was made on June 16, 2022. 

 

added 

amendment date 
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Attachment 7 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Comparison Table for the Handling Procedures for Conducting Derivative Transactions 

before and after amendment 

Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason of 

amendment 

Article 2 Scope of Application (type of transaction ) 

(1) The categories of derivatives trading used herein refers 

to forward contracts, options contracts, futures 

contracts, leverage contracts, and swap contracts, and 

compound contracts combining the above products or 

hybrid contracts, whose value is derived from assets, 

interest rate, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or 

rates or other interest of commodity price. The margin 

trading shall also follow it as mentioned above. 

(omitted) 

Scope of Application (type of transaction) 

(1) The categories of derivatives trading used herein refers 

to forward contracts, options contracts, futures 

contracts, leverage contracts, and swap contracts, and 

compound contracts combining the above products or 

hybrid contracts or structured products containing 

embedded derivatives, whose value is derived from 

specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 

commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of 

prices or rates, a credit rating or credit index, or other 

variable. The margin trading shall also follow it as 

mentioned above. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 7 Operating procedures 

(omitted) 

5. Transaction 

(1) Trading partners: domestic and foreign financial 

institutions, otherwise, it should be approved by 

the top decision-making supervisor of the financial 

department. 

(omitted) 

Operating procedures 

(omitted) 

5. Transaction 

(1) Trading partners: domestic and foreign financial 

institutions. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 10 Internal Control 

1. Risk management measures 

(1) Credit risk management: trading partners limited to 

domestic and foreign financial institutions. 

Otherwise, it should be approved by the top 

decision-making supervisor of the financial 

department. 

(omitted) 

Internal Control 

1. Risk management measures 

(1) Credit risk management: trading partners limited to 

domestic and foreign financial institutions.  

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 14 Penalty 

The Company's managers and personnel in charge who 

violate this operating procedure intentionally or grossly 

negligent shall be dealt with in accordance with the 

Company's personnel and administrative rules and 

regulations.  

Penalty 

The Company's managers and personnel in charge who 

violate this procedure intentionally or grossly negligent 

shall be dealt with in accordance with the Company's 

personnel and administrative rules and regulations. 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 15 Others 

1. "Subsidiaries" as used in the Procedures should mean 

the subsidiaries as defined in the No.5 and No.7 of the 

Financial Accounting Standards Bulletin by Accounting 

Research and Development Foundation.           

(omitted) 

Others 

1. "Subsidiaries" as used in the Procedures should mean 

the subsidiaries as defined in the Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by 

Securities Issuers. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 16 The Procedures were adopted on February 1, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 5th amendment was made on June 9, 2010. 

The 6th amendment was made on June 24, 2015.  

The Procedures were adopted on February 1, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 5th amendment was made on June 9, 2010. 

The 6th amendment was made on June 24, 2015. 

The 7th amendment was made on June 16, 2022.  

added 

amendment 

date 
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Attachment 8 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Comparison table for the Handling Procedures for Lending Funds to Other Parties 

before and after amendment 

Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 3 The aggregate amount of loans and the maximum amount 

permitted to a single borrower  

(omitted) 

2. The limit of fund- lending to the same party shall be 

respectively specified based on the considerations as 

follows: 

(1) The amount of an individual loan granted by the 

Company to a company or business with business 

relationship with the Company shall not exceed the 

business transaction amount between the parties. 

Business transactional amount refers to the amount 

of purchase or sale between the parties, whichever 

is higher. 

(2) Where a subsidiary and parent company of the 

Company has business needs for short-term 

financing, such financing amount shall not exceed 

20 percent of the Company's net 

(omitted) 

The aggregate amount of loans and the maximum amount 

permitted to a single borrower  

(omitted) 

2. The limit of fund-lending to the same party shall be 

respectively specified based on the considerations as 

follows: 

(1)The amount of an individual loan granted by the 

Company to a company or business with business 

relationship with the Company shall not exceed the 

business transaction amount in the most recent 

year between the parties. And should not exceed 

20% of the net value of the Company's most recent 

financial statements. Business transactional 

amount refers to the amount of purchase or sale 

between the parties, whichever is higher. 

(2) Where a subsidiary of the Company has business 

needs for short-term financing, such financing 

amount shall not exceed 20 percent of the 

Company's net 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 4 Duration of loans and calculation of interest 

Where the borrower finances from the Company, the term 

shall not exceed one year. The method of calculation 

interest is based on the Company's short-term capital cost 

plus a monthly payment or settled once upon maturity. 

 

Duration of loans and calculation of interest 

The term of each loan and payment shall not exceed one 

year or one business cycle (whichever is longer) from the 

date of the loan. 

The interest rate of the loaned funds shall be adjusted 

according to the actual situation in consideration of the 

Company's deposit and borrowing interest rates in 

financial institutions. 

Except for special regulations, the calculation and 

collection of loan interest is based on the principle of 

monthly interest calculation, which can be collected on a 

monthly basis, quarterly basis, or settled once upon 

maturity. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

and actual 

need 

Article 8 Penalty 

The Company's managers and personnel in charge who 

violate this procedure intentionally or grossly negligent 

shall be dealt with in accordance with the Company's 

personnel and administrative rules and regulations. 

Penalty 

The Company's managers and personnel in charge who 

violate this handling procedure intentionally or grossly 

negligent shall be dealt with in accordance with the 

Company's personnel and administrative rules and 

regulations. 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 11 (Add Title) 

(omitted) 

2. The Company shall fully consider opinion of each 

director when they are discuss in board of directors, 

and if there are any objections or reservations, it shall 

be stated in the minutes. 

(omitted) 

Implementation and revision 

(omitted) 

2. The Company shall fully consider opinion of each 

independent director when they are discuss in board of 

directors, and if there are any objections or 

reservations, it shall be stated in the minutes. 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 12 The Procedures were adopted on January 26, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 5th amendment was made on June 20, 2013. 

The 6th amendment was made on June 13, 2019. 

 

The Procedures were adopted on January 26, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 5th amendment was made on June 20, 2013. 

The 6th amendment was made on June 13, 2019. 

The 7th amendment was made on June 16, 2022. 

added 

amendment 

date 
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Attachment 9 

DARFON ELECTRONICS CORP. 

Comparison table for the Procedures for Endorsements and Guarantees before and 

after amendment 

Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Name Procedures for Endorsement and Guarantee Handling Procedures for Endorsements and Guarantees amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 1  Purpose 

There are clear and specific operating standards for 

making loans to others, and this procedure is formulated 

in accordance with the "Regulations Governing Loaning 

of Funds and Making of Endorsements/Guarantees by 

Public Companies" stipulated by the Financial 

Supervisory Commission. 

Purpose 

There are clear and specific operating standards for 

handling endorsements or guarantees for  others, and 

this handling procedure is formulated in accordance with 

the "Regulations Governing Loaning of Funds and 

Making of Endorsements/Guarantees by Public 

Companies" stipulated by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission. 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 2 Entities for which the company make 

endorsements/guarantees 

1. A company in which the Company directly and 

indirectly holds more than 50 percent of the voting 

shares. 

2. A company with which it does business. 

Entities for which the company make 

endorsements/guarantees 

1. A company with which it does business. 

2. A company in which the company directly and 

indirectly holds more than 50 percent of the voting 

shares. 

3. A Company that directly and indirectly holds more 

than 50 percent of the voting shares in the company. 

4. All capital contributing shareholders make 

endorsements/ guarantees for their jointly invested 

company in proportion to their shareholding 

percentages. 

Capital contribution referred to in the preceding 

paragraph shall mean capital contribution directly by the 

Company, or through a company in which the Company 

holds 100% of the voting shares. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 3 Scope 

The endorsement and guarantee in this procedure refers 

to the following matters： 

(omitted) 

Scope 

The endorsement and guarantee in this handling 

procedure refers to the following matters： 

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 4 The ceilings amounts  

1. The Company shall prescribe limits on aggregate 

endorsement/guarantee amount and the amount of its 

endorsements/guarantees for any single entity in 

which the Company directly and indirectly holds 

more than 50 percent of the voting shares and with 

which it does business. The limits shall be specified 

by board of directors and approval by the 

shareholders' meeting before implementing it. 

 

 

 

2. The ceilings on the amounts of Endorsements/ 

Guarantees for Others ： 

(1) The aggregate amount of endorsements/guarantees 

to which the Company directly and indirectly 

holds more than 50 percent of the voting shares is 

set as the ceiling for the Company as a whole 

cannot reach 50% of the most recent net worth of 

the Company. 

The ceilings amounts  

1. The Company shall prescribe limits on aggregate 

endorsement/guarantee amount and the amount of its 

endorsements/guarantees for any single entity in 

which the Company directly and indirectly holds 

more than 50 percent of the voting shares, with which 

it does business and for which, their jointly invested 

company, all capital contributing shareholders make 

endorsements/ guarantees in proportion to their 

shareholding percentages. The limits shall be 

specified by board of directors and approval by the 

shareholders' meeting before implementing it.  

2. The ceilings on the amounts of Endorsements/ 

Guarantees for Others ： 

 (1)The aggregate amount of endorsements/guarantees 

is set as the ceiling for the Company as a whole 

cannot reach 50% of the most recent net worth of 

the Company. 

 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 4  (2) To the entity that directly and indirectly holds 

more than 50 percent of the voting shares in the 

company or due to needs arising from business 

dealings which the Company makes 

endorsements/guarantees, the ceilings amounts 

cannot reach 10% of the most recent net worth of 

the Company. 

 

 

 

 

 

3. The aggregate amount of endorsements/ guarantees is 

set as the ceiling for the Company and its subsidiaries 

as a whole cannot reach 50% of the most recent net 

worth of the Company. If the aggregate amount of 

endorsements/guarantees that is set as the ceiling for 

the Company and its subsidiaries as a whole exceeds 

50% or more of the net worth of the Company, an 

explanation of the necessity and reasonableness 

thereof shall be given at the shareholders’ meeting. 

The aggregate amount of endorsements/guarantees is 

set as the ceiling for the Company and its subsidiaries 

to a single enterprise cannot exceed 20% of the most 

recent net worth of the Company. 

(2) To the same entity which the Company makes 

endorsements/guarantees, the ceilings amounts 

cannot reach 20% of the most recent net worth of the 

Company. However, if an endorsement/guarantee is 

made due to needs arising from business dealings, 

the individual amount shall not exceed the estimated 

amount of business transactions between the two 

parties in the most recent year, and shall not exceed 

20% of the most recent net worth of the Company. 

The amount of business transactions refers to the 

higher of the purchase or sale amount between the 

two parties. 

3. The aggregate amount of endorsements/ guarantees is 

set as the ceiling for the Company and its subsidiaries as 

a whole cannot exceed 50% of the most recent net worth 

of the Company. If the aggregate amount of 

endorsements/guarantees that is set as the ceiling for the 

Company and its subsidiaries as a whole reaches 50% or 

more of the net worth of the Company, an explanation of 

the necessity and reasonableness thereof shall be given at 

the shareholders’ meeting. The aggregate amount of 

endorsements/guarantees is set as the ceiling for the 

Company and its subsidiaries to a single enterprise 

cannot exceed 20% of the most recent net worth of the 

Company. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 5 Process 

(omitted) 

2. The Company shall prepare a memorandum book for 

its fund-loaning activities the following information: 

borrower, amount, date of approval by the board of 

directors, lending/borrowing date, and matters to be 

carefully evaluated. 

3. The financial department shall prepare relevant 

statements of endorsement and guarantee and submit 

them to the board of directors for review. 

Process 

(omitted) 

2. The Company shall prepare a memorandum book for 

its fund-loaning activities and truthfully record the 

following information: borrower, amount, date of 

approval by the board of directors, lending/borrowing 

date, and matters to be carefully evaluated.  

 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

Article 7 Procedures for controlling and managing 

endorsements/guarantees by subsidiaries  

1. Where a subsidiary of the Company intends to make 

endorsements/guarantees, the subsidiary shall 

formulate the procedures in accordance with the " 

Regulations Governing Loaning of Funds and Making 

of Endorsements/Guarantees by Public Companies " 

stipulated by the Financial Supervisory Commission. 

After the procedures approved by the subsidiary's 

board of directors, submitted to the subsidiary's 

shareholders’ meeting, and the same for amendments. 

When a subsidiary company is engaged in 

endorsement and guarantee, it shall follow its 

procedures.  

2. Supervise and urge the subsidiary to check by 

themselves whether the procedures comply with 

relevant standards and regulations, and whether to 

handle related matters in accordance with the 

procedures. 

(omitted) 

 

Procedures for controlling and managing 

endorsements/guarantees by subsidiaries  

1. Where a subsidiary of the Company intends to make 

endorsements/guarantees, the subsidiary shall 

formulate the handling procedures in accordance with 

the " Regulations Governing Loaning of Funds and 

Making of Endorsements/Guarantees by Public 

Companies " stipulated by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission. After the procedures approved by the 

subsidiary's board of directors, submitted to the 

subsidiary's shareholders’ meeting, and the same for 

amendments. When a subsidiary company is engaged 

in endorsement and guarantee, it shall follow its 

procedures. 

2. Supervise and urge the subsidiary to check by 

themselves whether the handling procedures comply 

with relevant standards and regulations, and whether 

to handle related matters in accordance with the 

handling procedures. 

(omitted) 

 

amend 

according to 

actual need 
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Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 7 5. If the object of the endorsement guarantee is a 

subsidiary whose net value is less than one-half of 

the paid-in capital, the financial department shall 

assess the operating risk of the subsidiary and its 

impact on the Company, and submit a report to the 

Company's board of directors. 

5. If the object of the endorsement guarantee is a 

subsidiary whose net value is less than one-half of 

the paid-in capital, the financial department shall 

assess the operating risk of the subsidiary and its 

impact on the Company, and submit a report to the 

Company's board of directors quarterly. However, 

companies in which the Company directly or 

indirectly holds 100% of the voting shares are not 

subject to this restriction. 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 9 Hierarchy of decision-making authority and delegation 

thereof 

1. An endorsement/guarantee shall be submitted to and 

resolved upon by the board of directors, except being 

approved by the chairman of the board within NT100 

million, for subsequent submission to and ratification 

by the next board of directors' meeting. Before making 

any endorsement/guarantee pursuant to Article 7, 

paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 4, a subsidiary in which 

the Company holds, directly or indirectly, 90% or 

more of the voting shares shall submit the proposed 

endorsement/guarantee to the Company’s board of 

directors for a resolution, provided that this restriction 

shall not apply to endorsements/guarantees made 

between companies in which the Company holds, 

directly or indirectly, 100% of the voting shares. 

(omitted) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Where as a result of changes of condition the entity 

for which an endorsement/guarantee is made no 

longer meets the requirements of these procedures, or 

the amount of endorsement/guarantee exceeds the 

limit, the Company shall adopt rectification plans and 

report the rectification plans to all the audit 

committee, and shall complete the rectification 

according to the timeframe set out in the plan. When 

the amount of the endorsement guarantee exceeds the 

limit due to changes in circumstances, the board of 

directors shall set a certain period of time to eliminate 

the excess part. 

 

Hierarchy of decision-making authority and delegation 

thereof 

1. An endorsement/guarantee shall be submitted to and 

resolved upon by the board of directors, except being 

approved by the chairman of the board within NT100 

million, for subsequent submission to and ratification 

by the next board of directors' meeting. Before making 

any endorsement/guarantee pursuant to Article 7, a 

subsidiary in which the Company holds, directly or 

indirectly, 90% or more of the voting shares shall 

submit the proposed endorsement/guarantee to the 

Company’s board of directors for a resolution, 

provided that this restriction shall not apply to 

endorsements/guarantees made between companies in 

which the Company holds, directly or indirectly, 

100% of the voting shares. 

(omitted) 

3. Where the Company needs to exceed the limits set out 

in the Handling Procedures for 

Endorsements/Guarantees to satisfy its business 

requirements, and where the conditions set out in the 

Handling Procedures for Endorsements/Guarantees 

are complied with, it shall obtain approval from the 

board of directors and half or more of the directors 

shall act as joint guarantors for any loss that may be 

caused to the Company by the excess 

endorsement/guarantee. It shall also amend the 

Handling Procedures for Endorsements/Guarantees 

accordingly and submit the same to the shareholders' 

meeting for ratification after the fact. If the 

shareholders' meeting does not give consent, the 

Company shall adopt a plan to discharge the amount 

in excess within a given time limit. 

4. Where as a result of changes of condition the entity 

for which an endorsement/guarantee is made no 

longer meets the requirements of these handling 

procedures, or the amount of endorsement/guarantee 

exceeds the limit, the company shall adopt 

rectification plans and report the rectification plans to 

all the audit committee, and shall complete the 

rectification according to the timeframe set out in the 

plan. When the amount of the endorsement guarantee 

exceeds the limit due to changes in circumstances, the 

board of directors shall set a certain period of time to 

eliminate the excess part. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

and actual 

need 



 

40 

Article 

No 
Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 9 4. Before the all matters are submitted for a resolution by 

the board of directors in these procedures, we shall 

require the approval of one-half or more of all audit 

committee members. If the approval of one-half or 

more of all audit committee members is not obtained, 

the matters may be implemented if approved by 

two-thirds or more of all directors, and the resolution 

of the audit committee shall be recorded in the 

minutes of the board of directors meeting. 

5. When it submits the Operational Procedures for 

Endorsements/Guarantees for discussion by the board 

of directors, the board of directors shall take into full 

consideration each director's opinions. If a director 

expresses any dissent or reservation, it shall be 

specifically recorded in the minutes of the board of 

directors meeting. 

6. The terms "all audit committee members" and "all 

directors” in this procedure shall be counted as the 

actual number of persons currently holding those 

positions. 

5. Before the all matters are submitted for a resolution by 

the board of directors in these handling procedures, 

we shall require the approval of one-half or more of 

all audit committee members. If the approval of 

one-half or more of all audit committee members is 

not obtained, the matters may be implemented if 

approved by two-thirds or more of all directors, and 

the resolution of the audit committee shall be recorded 

in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. 

6. When it submits the Handling Procedures for 

Endorsements/Guarantees for discussion by the board 

of directors, the board of directors shall take into full 

consideration each director's opinions. If a director 

expresses any dissent or reservation, it shall be 

specifically recorded in the minutes of the board of 

directors meeting. 

7. The terms "all audit committee members" and "all 

directors” in this handling procedure shall be counted 

as the actual number of persons currently holding 

those positions. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

and actual 

need 

Article 12 Penalty  

The Company’s managers and personnel in charge who 

violate this procedure intentionally or grossly negligent 

shall be dealt with in accordance with the Company’s 

personnel and administrative rules and regulations. 

Penalty  

The Company’s managers and personnel in charge who 

violate this handling procedure intentionally or grossly 

negligent shall be dealt with in accordance with the 

Company’s personnel and administrative rules and 

regulations. 

amend 

according to 

actual need 

Article 13 Others 

1."Subsidiary" and "parent Company" as referred to in 

these Procedures shall be as determined under the 

Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 

Reports by Securities Issuers. Where the Company’s 

financial reports are prepared according to the 

International Financial Reporting Standards, "net 

worth" in these Procedures means the balance sheet 

equity attributable to the owners of the parent 

company under the Regulations Governing the 

Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers.  

2 Matters not covered in this Procedure shall be handled 

in accordance with relevant laws and regulations and 

relevant regulations of the Company. 

3.The term "announce and report" as used in these 

Procedures means the process of entering data to the 

information reporting website designated by the 

Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC). 

4.“Date of occurrence” in these Procedures means the 

date of contract signing, date of payment, dates of 

boards of directors resolutions, or other date that can 

confirm the counterparty and monetary amount of the 

loan of funds or endorsement/guarantee, whichever 

date is earlier.  

(omitted) 

Others 

1."Subsidiary" and "parent company" as referred to in 

these Handling Procedures shall be as determined 

under the Regulations Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. Where the 

Company’s financial reports are prepared according to 

the International Financial Reporting Standards, "net 

worth" in these Handling Procedures means the 

balance sheet equity attributable to the owners of the 

parent company under the Regulations Governing the 

Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

2. Matters not covered in this Handling Procedures shall 

be handled in accordance with relevant laws and 

regulations and relevant regulations of the Company. 

3.The term "announce and report" as used in these 

Handling Procedures means the process of entering 

data to the information reporting website designated by 

the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC).  

4.“Date of occurrence” in these Handling Procedures 

means the date of contract signing, date of payment, 

dates of boards of directors resolutions, or other date 

that can confirm the counterparty and monetary 

amount of the loan of funds or endorsement/ 

guarantee, whichever date is earlier.  

(omitted) 

amend 

according to 

actual need 
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Article No Before amendment After amendment 

Reason for 

Amendments 

Article 14  (Add Title) 

1. The formulation or amendment of this Procedure shall 

be approved by more than half of all members of the 

audit committee first. If there is no consent of more 

than one-half of all members of the audit committee, it 

may be agreed by more than two-thirds of all 

directors, and the resolution of the audit committee 

should be stated in the minutes of the board of 

directors. 

2. The Company shall fully consider opinion of each 

director when they are discuss in board of directors, 

and if there are any objections or reservations, it shall 

be stated in the minutes. 

 3. This Procedure is approved by the board of directors 

and submitted to the shareholders’ meeting for 

approval, the same as amended. 

Implementation and revision 

1. The formulation or amendment of this Handling 

Procedure shall be approved by more than half of all 

members of the audit committee first. If there is no 

consent of more than one-half of all members of the 

audit committee, it may be agreed by more than 

two-thirds of all directors, and the resolution of the 

audit committee should be stated in the minutes of the 

board of directors.  

2. The Company shall fully consider opinion of each 

independent director when they are discuss in board 

of directors, and if there are any objections or 

reservations, it shall be stated in the minutes.  

3. This Handling Procedure is approved by the board of 

directors and submitted to the shareholders’ meeting 

for approval, the same as amended. 

amend 

according to 

laws and 

regulations 

and actual 

need 

Article 15 The Procedures were adopted on January 26, 1998. 

(omitted) 

The 6th amendment was made on June 21, 2013.  

The 7th amendment was made on June 13, 2019. 

The Handling Procedures were adopted on January 26, 

1998.  

(omitted) 

The 6th amendment was made on June 21, 2013.  

The 7th amendment was made on June 13, 2019. 

The 8th amendment was made on June 16, 2022. 

added 

amendment 

date 

 


